**STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

**PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,
Plaintiff-Appellant,**

v

No. _____

**VIRGIL SMITH,
Defendant-Appellee.**

**Court of Appeals No. 332288
Circuit Court No. 15-005228-01-FH**

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

KYM WORTHY
Prosecuting Attorney
County of Wayne

JASON W. WILLIAMS (P51503)
Chief of Research, Training,
and Appeals
1441 St. Antoine, 11th Floor
Detroit, Michigan 48226
(313) 224-5794

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I

Only the actual exercise of powers of another branch of government can violate separation of powers. Defendant voluntarily agreed to resign from office and not hold office during the term of probation as part of a plea agreement. Do provisions of a plea agreement under which an elected official voluntarily resigns his public office and agrees not to hold public office violate separation of powers or public policy?

The People answer: “NO.”

Defendant would answer: “YES.”

The Circuit Court answered: “YES.”

The Court of Appeals answered: “YES.”

II

A prosecutor has a right to withdraw from a plea agreement when its conditions are not met. The Court of Appeals held that the circuit court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to vacate the plea after it struck provisions of the plea agreement. Did the Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals err and infringe on the prosecuting attorney’s charging authority when the courts did not vacate the plea?

The People answer: “YES.”

Defendant would answer: “NO.”

The Circuit Court answered: “NO.”

The Court of Appeals answered: “NO.”

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises from the assault by defendant Virgil Smith, at the time a State Senator, targeting his ex-wife, during which defendant fired shots from an assault weapon at his ex-wife, at her car, and into the air. 6/25/15, 50-51, 56-65. The People charged defendant with felonious assault,⁵ domestic violence,⁶ malicious destruction of personal property (\$20,000 or more),⁷ and felony-firearm.⁸

In February 2016, the People and defendant entered into a plea agreement whereby the People would dismiss the charges of felonious assault, felony-firearm and domestic violence in exchange for defendant pleading guilty to malicious destruction of personal property, defendant resigning his position as State Senator and not holding elective or appointed office during his probation, defendant serving an agreed-upon sentence of five years of probation with ten months in jail and no early release, and defendant meeting other conditions of probation.⁹

Defendant pleaded guilty on February 11, 2016.¹⁰ The terms of the plea, which were placed on the record, included that defendant agreed to “resign the position of State Senator” and agreed that he “cannot hold elective or appointed office during the full pendency of his probation.” 2/11, 6. During a lengthy discussion with the attorneys, the trial court expressed concern “whether or not public officials should be sanctioned or punished differently” and pondered the weight to give that factor in determining a reasonable sentence. 2/11, 14-15. In response, defense counsel stated, “Mr. Smith is resigning his office” and “cannot run for an

⁵ MCL 750.82.

⁶ MCL 750.81.

⁷ MCL 750.377a.

⁸ MCL 750.227b.

⁹ Settlement Offer and Notice of Acceptance, attached as Appendix F.

¹⁰ 2/11, 35-45. Transcripts are cited throughout this application by month/date of proceedings and page numbers.

elective office again.” He added that “[t]he idea that Mr. Smith is being treated differently because he’s a public official given those facts should be certainly diminished.” Counsel also stated that defendant arguably was being “treated more harshly,” and that possibly “he should be.” 2/11, 15-16.

The court inquired whether incarceration in prison, not the jail, which is funded by the county, would be more appropriate. 2/11, 19-24. The court also expressed a desire that the parties submit sentencing memoranda to assist the court in determining whether the agreement was reasonable. 2/11, 28-35.

Defendant elected to proceed with the plea, and during the plea colloquy stated that he accepted the plea agreement. 2/11, 35. The court recited the agreement, including the resignation and bar to holding office terms, and confirmed that defendant understood the terms. 2/11, 37. The court then accepted defendant’s plea of guilty. 2/11, 45.

The court did not indicate that it was concerned regarding the validity of the provisions requiring that defendant resign from office and not hold elective or appointive office during the term of his probation. 2/11, 3-52.

Sentencing occurred on March 14, 2016. The court acknowledged receipt of the parties’ joint sentencing memorandum, defendant’s sentencing memorandum, and defendant’s objections to the presentencing investigation report. 3/14, 5, 9. The court then addressed the objections, as well as issues involved in calculating the sentence guidelines range of ten to twenty-three months. 3/14, 6-37. The victim addressed the court, and the People requested that the court follow the sentence agreement. 3/14, 40-44. Defense counsel also requested that the court follow the agreement, stating “this is a case [where] you should rely upon [the fact that Assistant Prosecutor] Lindsey and I have reached this agreement in a fair and equitable manner and the

People of the State of Michigan are served by this sentence. He's removed from his office as State Senator. I ask you to approve the agreement." 3/14, 49. Defendant declined the opportunity to speak. 3/14, 49.

After an extended discussion of the charges that would be dismissed and the agreed-upon jail term, the court sentenced defendant to five years of probation with the first ten months in jail and no early release. 3/14, 61. The court then inquired about the drug testing provision because defendant had a medical marijuana card. The assistant prosecutor indicated that she would have to "consult" regarding whether the People would move to set aside the plea if defendant would not be required to submit to drug testing.¹¹ 3/14, 62-64.

The court also challenged the provision that defendant resign from office. Defense counsel explained that "it was an additional requirement not set forth in any statute, not set forth in any constitution, that we had to – that we decide[d] to accept in order to reach an agreement." 3/14, 69. The court inquired whether, putting aside the sentencing agreement, defendant would have to resign because of his conviction. The prosecutor responded that defendant would not be forced to resign. 3/14, 70. The court then opined that the constitution "reserves to the senate to decide whether or not to expel a member." 3/14, 72.

The court discussed three opinions from other jurisdictions¹² before opining that defendant did not have the "right" to resign as part of a plea:

Who does – does Mr. Smith have the right to agree to give up his seat in the senate in exchange for this guilty plea? Does he have the – is that his constitutional right? I don't think so. I think that belongs to his constituents, the

¹¹ The court ultimately allowed testing for marijuana, but provided that defendant would be in compliance if the drug was prescribed by a licensed physician. 3/28, 28-29.

¹² *United States v Richmond*, 550 F Supp 605 (ED NY, 1982); *Leopold v Maryland*, 216 Md App 586; 88 A3d 860 (Md Ct App, 2014); *Powell v McCormack*, 395 US 486; 89 S Ct 1944; 23 L Ed 2d 491 (1969).

people that elected him, or I should say really his constituents, everyone who can vote in that district regardless of whether they voted for him or not.

It's along that right in the constitution about his being expelled belongs to them. They can choose to vote for him or they can choose not to vote for him. The other way that someone can be expelled is they can be expelled pursuant to the constitution with a two thirds vote of the senate. [3/14, 76-77]

The court determined that it would be "illegal" to impose conditions that defendant resign and not hold office because it would violate the separation of powers clause. 3/14, 77-78. The court acknowledged that "someone could resign," but believed "this type of agreement is fraught with danger if this Court were to allow it and his voluntary consent to this doesn't cure that because he doesn't have that right to resign in exchange for this sentence agreement." 3/14, 78-79. The court believed the agreement was against public policy because it involved "a technique that has the possibly of executive or prosecutorial domination of members of the state legislator (sic) through forced resignation." 3/14, 79. The court determined that that provision of the agreement was "void." 3/14, 80.

When the court inquired whether the prosecutor was asking to set aside the agreement, the prosecutor responded that she would have to consult with her office. 3/14, 82-83. The court, however, did not wait for the prosecutor's request to withdraw the agreement. It stated that "it would not be in the interest of justice for me to allow this plea to be withdrawn if the prosecutor were to make that motion." 3/14, 83.

In an order entered on March 14, 2016, the court held that the portions of the plea agreement requiring defendant to resign and not hold elective office were "an unconstitutional interference by the Prosecutor with the legislative branch of government and with the rights of

the defendant's constituents." Rather than voiding the entire plea agreement, the court held that the plea remained valid.¹³

The People moved to vacate the plea under MCR 6.310(E) because defendant had not resigned from the Senate, arguing that nothing prevented defendant from complying with the agreement's terms, even if the court was reluctant to enforce them.¹⁴

The court denied the People's motion at a hearing held on March 28, 2016:

Enforcement of the plea agreement without the offending portions serves the interest of justice. Vacating the plea bargain would not serve the interest of justice for the reasons stated on the record here today, for the reasons stated on the record on March 14th, for the reasons stated in its order declaring void portions of the plea agreement and for the reasons stated in this opinion and order denying the prosecutor's motion to vacate the plea.

Vacating the plea bargain would, in fact, harm the interest of justice. Vacating the plea would violate the fundamental principle that it is the right of the People to elect whom they chose to elect for office by allowing the prosecutor to pressure a member of the legislative branch to resign or face prosecution and likely imprisonment.

Vacating the plea would violate the separation of powers set forth in the Michigan constitution where only the Senate can discipline or remove one of its members convicted of this type of crime by allowing the prosecutor to pressure a member of the legislative branch to resign and face prosecution and likely imprisonment.

Vacating the plea would violate public policy by allowing the prosecutor to dominate the legislative branch of government with the threat of forced resignation.

In granting the prosecution's motion to vacate this plea would compromise the Court's integrity by involving it in an act that violates public policy and offends the constitution. It does not matter that Defendant voluntarily agreed to this portion of the plea agreement because these constitutional protections exists (sic) not for the Defendant's personal benefit, but to protect the rights of the Defendant's constituents and the right of the legislative branch of government.

The prosecutor's motion to vacate the plea is denied. [3/28, 23-24.]

¹³ Appendix D.

¹⁴ Motion to Vacate Plea.

In an opinion and order entered that day, the court reasoned that “[e]nforcement of the plea agreement without the offending portions serves the interests of justice” and that vacating the plea “would violate the fundamental principle that it is the right of the people to elect whom they choose to elect for office by allowing the prosecutor to pressure a member of the legislative branch to resign or face prosecution and likely imprisonment.” The court further explained that vacating the plea would “violate the separation of powers” and also “public policy by allowing the prosecutor to dominate the legislative branch of government with the threat of forced resignation.” The court believed that granting the motion to vacate the plea “would compromise the court’s integrity by involving it in an act that violates public policy and offends the constitution.”¹⁵

On April 1, 2016, the People applied for leave to appeal in the Court of Appeals, challenging the trial court’s March 14, 2016 order voiding the resignation and bar-to-office provisions of the plea agreement and the court’s March 28, 2016 order denying the People’s motion to vacate the plea.

On August 26, 2016, the Court of Appeals granted the People’s application for leave to appeal.

Upon plenary consideration, the Court of Appeals dismissed the People’s appeal as moot in an opinion issued on April 18, 2017.¹⁶ The Court observed that defendant had resigned his seat in the Senate on April 12, 2016 (eleven days after the People applied for leave to appeal), and “[h]e has also, it is believed, indicated an intention to not run for public office during his probationary period.” The Court determined that the appeal was moot because defendant

¹⁵ Appendix E.

¹⁶ *People v Virgil Smith*, unpublished per curiam opinion of the Court of Appeals, issued April 18, 2017 (Docket No. 332288) (Appendix B).

voluntarily resigned his seat and defendant “appears to have no intention of running for public office during his term of probation.”¹⁷ The Court declined to address the issues it deemed moot. The Court reasoned: “While the questions at issue are arguably of public significance and could conceivably recur, we believe that since the terms of the plea agreement appear to have been voluntarily satisfied this is not the appropriate case in which to resolve a constitutional question.”¹⁸

The Court then turned to the issue whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying the People’s motion to set aside the plea. The Court determined that the trial court had abused its discretion, but nevertheless declined to grant relief to the People. It concluded that permitting the People to renegotiate the plea would subvert the ends of justice and be fundamentally unfair because defendant had fulfilled the majority of the terms in the plea agreement.¹⁹

On April 26, 2017, the People moved for reconsideration, arguing that the Court of Appeals palpably erred in stating that defendant did not intend to run for public office during his probationary period when he had, in fact, filed to run for Detroit City Council.²⁰ The Court denied the People’s motion for reconsideration on June 2, 2017.²¹

The People applied for leave to appeal from the Court of Appeals’ decision, and in lieu of granting leave, this Court remanded the case to the Court of Appeals for consideration on reconsideration granted. The Court directed that the Court of Appeals render a decision by 5:00 p.m. on August 25, 2017.

¹⁷ *Id.*, slip op p 2.

¹⁸ *Id.*

¹⁹ *Id.* at 3.

²⁰ Appendix G.

²¹ Appendix C.

On remand, the Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the circuit court in a published opinion.²² First, Judge Servitto, writing for the majority,²³ determined that the constitutional questions were not moot. Next, the majority determined that the resignation and bar-to-office provisions of the plea agreement were unconstitutional because the Constitution describes when an individual is no longer eligible to run for office and reserves for the Legislature the right to determine when a member should be expelled. The majority discounted the voluntary nature of a defendant's decision to enter into a plea agreement, opining that drawing a distinction between voluntary and involuntary action would allow the prosecution to do indirectly what it is prohibited from doing directly. The majority was persuaded by the reasoning of *Richmond* and *Leopold*, and concluded that the prosecution's offering of the plea agreement was an unconstitutional attempt to violate the separation of powers. The majority believed that allowing the prosecution to negotiate the provisions would permit "the possibility of threatened prosecution to be used for nefarious purposes" and could open the door to the use of prosecutorial power to "remove those from elected office that do not align with the executive's political preferences."²⁴ The majority believed that allowing the provisions would treat elected officials as a "second class of citizens" with an additional, uncommon benefit with which to bargain.

²² *People v Smith*, __ Mich App __; __ NW2d __ (Docket No. 332288; issued 8/22/17).

²³ Judge Karen Fort Hood did not participate on remand. Judge Michael Kelly joined Judge Servitto in forming the majority.

²⁴ In a footnote, the majority decried the prosecutor's temporary decision not to offer plea bargains in cases heard by the trial judge. The majority not only failed to recognize that a defendant has no constitutional right to a plea offer, *Weatherford v Bursey*, 429 US 545, 562; 97 S Ct 837; 51 L Ed 2d 30 (1977), but also ignored the reasonable justification for the prosecutor's decision. A prosecutor cannot offer plea bargains in cases before judges who believe they can rewrite plea offers and bind the prosecutor to new, different plea agreements. To do so would cede to the court the prosecutor's constitutional power. It is the authority of the prosecutor, not the trial court, to enter into plea agreements.

The majority then addressed the circuit court's decision to deny the People's motion to vacate the plea, and, contrary to its earlier opinion, concluded that the court did not abuse its discretion. The majority determined that refusing to vacate the plea served the administration of justice because to vacate the plea would "send[] the wrong message" and provide little impetus to stop the practice of including the provisions in plea agreements. The majority also opined that defendant had been placed in a worse bargaining position since the plea was accepted by the court because he had resigned and served his jail term.

Judge Riordan dissented, and would have held that the circuit court abused its discretion. Judge Riordan concluded that while imposing resignation, withdrawal, or forbearance on an elected official involuntarily would violate the separation of powers doctrine, the Constitution does not prohibit a person from voluntarily resigning or forbearing future public office. Judge Riordan also rejected the majority's assertion that the prosecutor would use his or her power of prosecution to remove an elected official for political reasons. Judge Riordan explained:

Such a blanket assertion is troublesome on many levels. First, it seeks to insulate publicly elected officials from a voluntary mechanism for the efficient resolution of charges of criminal wrongdoing. The majority then limits, without any legal justification other than a naked prediction of the impending demise of the electoral process and the imaginary specter of prosecutors running amok, the ability of a public office holder to freely enter into a plea agreement. Further, it implies that the judiciary in our state is incapable of recognizing instances of potential prosecutorial misconduct. In short, I do not find the majority's public policy doomsday hyperbole to be persuasive. In fact, anecdotally, over the past thirty-five years since the Brooklyn federal district court's dicta in *Richmond*, there have been many instances of elected officials voluntarily resigning office as a result of plea agreements and there is nothing I have found indicating that any of those resignations or forbearances have been the "product of an abuse of power by the executive branch."

Judge Riordan would have treated an elected official no differently than any other citizen.

Judge Riordan further opined that a defendant should have the opportunity to inform the court if he believes he has been coerced into accepting a plea, and that if the court voids terms of

the plea agreement, the prosecutor should be afforded the opportunity to reinstate criminal charges that were dismissed as part of the agreement. Judge Riordan therefore would have found that the circuit court abused its discretion in denying the People's motion to vacate the plea agreement.

The People now apply for leave to appeal from the Court of Appeals' decision.²⁵

²⁵ In compliance with the Court's order dated August 15, 2017, the People have filed this application before 5:00 p.m. on August 28, 2017.

ARGUMENT

I.

Only the actual exercise of powers of another branch of government can violate separation of powers. Defendant voluntarily agreed to resign from office and not hold office during the term of probation as part of a plea agreement. Provisions of a plea agreement under which an elected official voluntarily resigns his public office and agrees not to hold public office do not violate separation of powers or public policy.

Standard of Review

An appellate court reviews questions of law, such as whether a violation of the separation of powers has occurred, *de novo*.²⁶

Discussion

The Court of Appeals clearly erred in affirming the circuit court's decision to void the portion of the plea agreement that required defendant to resign from office and not hold office during the term of probation. While the Michigan Constitution sets forth a procedure for removing a State Senator *involuntarily*,²⁷ nothing in the Constitution prohibits an elected official from *voluntarily* resigning his position. Once elected, a person is not forced to serve a full term of office unless removed by voters or other mechanism provided by law. An elected official may choose not to serve by resigning from office and an official, like any other person, may choose not to hold office in the future. And, like any other defendant, an elected official who is charged with a crime can agree to resign from his employment and not be so employed in the future as

²⁶ *Hopkins v Michigan Parole Bd*, 237 Mich App 629, 635; 604 NW2d 686 (1999).

²⁷ Const 1963, art 4, § 16.

part of a plea agreement. Plea agreements containing those provisions do not violate the separation of powers clause or public policy.

The separation of powers doctrine is not violated when an elected official agrees to resign from office voluntarily and not hold office for a period of time in exchange for a reduction of criminal charges or other consideration. In negotiating such an agreement, the prosecutor is not infringing on the powers of the legislative branch. The prosecutor is not *forcing* the official to resign from office; instead, the official is *agreeing* to exercise his or her right—the right *not* to hold public office—to secure what he or she believes is a favorable resolution of criminal charges. Nor is a court infringing on the powers of the legislative branch in accepting a plea agreement that includes resignation as one of its terms. The court is not ordering an official to resign *involuntarily*; it is merely accepting an official’s agreement to resign *voluntarily*.

Const 1963, art 3, § 2 provides: “The powers of government are divided into three branches: legislative, executive and judicial. No person exercising powers of one branch shall exercise powers properly belonging to another branch except as expressly provided in this constitution.” The separation of powers doctrine “does not require so strict a separation as to provide no overlap of responsibilities and powers.”²⁸ “If the grant of authority to one branch is limited and specific and does not create encroachment or aggrandizement of one branch at the expense of the other, a sharing of power may be constitutionally permissible.”²⁹

A prosecutor’s entry into a plea agreement with a defendant where the defendant agrees to resign from the Michigan Senate, and a court’s acceptance of that agreement, do not involve the exercise of powers belonging to the Legislature. The prosecutor, a member of the executive

²⁸ *Judicial Attorneys Association v Michigan*, 459 Mich 291, 296; 586 NW2d 894 (1998).

²⁹ *Hopkins*, 237 Mich App at 636.

branch of government, is the constitutional officer who determines whether to prosecute and what charges to file.³⁰ That power carries with it the authority to enter into plea bargains,³¹ including sentence agreements.³² In contrast, the judiciary does not negotiate plea agreements, but has the authority to impose a sentence.³³ A court thus need not accept a plea agreement that provides “for the defendant’s plea to be made in exchange for a sentence to a specified term or within a specified range or a prosecutorial sentence recommendation.”³⁴

The prosecutor’s and the court’s exercise of their respective powers to negotiate and accept a plea agreement that includes a provision that a member of the Legislature voluntarily will resign from office and not hold office for a specified term does not infringe on the Legislature’s authority to discipline members. The Michigan Constitution grants the House and the Senate the power to “expel a member.”³⁵ To expel is to force someone to leave by official action.³⁶ A senator or representative who voluntarily resigns is not being forced to leave the Legislature by official action. The legislator instead has agreed to leave voluntarily. That the decision is made during plea negotiations does not transform a voluntary action into a forced resignation. The legislator has no right to a reduced plea,³⁷ and is free to accept or reject a plea offer. Because the decision to resign from office and not hold office during the term of probation is the legislator’s alone, he or she is not being forced to leave by action of the prosecutor or the

³⁰ *Genesee Prosecutor v Genesee Circuit Judge*, 386 Mich 672, 683; 194 NW2d 693 (1972).

³¹ *People v Jackson*, 192 Mich App 10, 14-15; 480 NW2d 283 (1991).

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