**STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Supreme Court No.: 156353

-vs-

VIRGIL SMITH,

Defendant-Appellee.

_____/

WAYNE COUNTY PROSECUTOR

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER OFFICE

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellee

**VIRGIL SMITH'S RESPONSE TO PROSECUTION'S
APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL**

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER OFFICE

BY: VALERIE NEWMAN (P 47291)

Assistant Defender

3300 Penobscot Building

645 Griswold St.

Detroit, Michigan 48226

(313) 256-9833

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE PROSECUTOR'S VOIDED PLEA CONDITIONS VIOLATED THE MICHIGAN CONSTITUTION'S SEPARATION OF POWERS.

Standard of Review

The Court reviews a constitutional question de novo. *Coalition of State Emp Unions v State*, 498 Mich 312, 322; 870 NW2d 275 (2015).

Argument

The Michigan Constitution declares, "The powers of government are divided into three branches: legislative, executive and judicial. No person exercising powers of one branch shall exercise powers properly belonging to another branch except as expressly provided in this constitution." Const 1963, art 3, § 2. And the prosecutor is a member of the executive branch. *People ex rel Leonard v Papp*, 386 Mich 672, 683; 194 NW2d 693 (1972).

A. The Constitution grants to the Legislature alone the power to expel a legislator.

A court must give effect to the plain meaning of the Constitution's text. *People v Tanner*, 496 Mich 199, 223-24; 853 NW2d 653 (2014). The maxim *expressio unius est exclusio alterius* aids constitutional construction. *See Frey v Dept of Management and Budget*, 429 Mich 315, 337; 414 NW2d 873 (1987) (recognizing the use of the maxim for constitutional interpretation, except when doing so would do “manifest violence” to the framers’ intent). Article 4, § 16 of the Constitution details the process to expel a legislator from office:

Each house shall be the sole judge of the qualifications, elections and returns of its members, and may, with the concurrence of two-thirds of all the members elected thereto and serving therein, expel a member. The reasons for such expulsion shall be entered in the journal, with the votes and names of the members voting upon the question.

The houses of the Legislature have the “sole” power to expel their members. The Constitution permits no other process and no other body to carry out this solemn duty. Here, a county prosecutor, a member of the executive, attempts to expel a state senator—an option that is expressly denied to the head of the executive branch by the Constitution. *See* 1963 Const. art. 5, § 10 (granting the Governor authority to remove or suspend any elective or appointive state officer, “except legislative or judicial”). If the head of the executive branch cannot remove a legislator from office, no member of the executive branch can.

The Constitution explains the procedure—to the exclusion of any other procedure—for removing a legislator from office: expulsion by the legislator’s house. And expulsion requires a

supermajority. These Constitutional safeguards guarantee two things: (1) that the legislator is judged by his or her peers, and (2) that the decision is made by a significant number of publicly accountable people. A decision for the appellants would permit a single member of the executive branch to accomplish the same result through a plea agreement—which circumvents both of the safeguards enshrined in the Constitution.

The appellants argue that Smith’s resignation did not implicate the Constitution because it was voluntary—but appellants do not provide their definition of “voluntary.” A “voluntary” act is intentional, “not impelled by outside influence . . . [and it is] *without valuable consideration or legal obligation.*” *Black’s Law Dictionary* (9th ed), p 1806 (emphasis added). Appellants’ own brief undercuts their assertion when it admits that Smith agreed to resign and not hold office “in exchange for a reduction of criminal charges or other consideration.” Appellant’s Application, at 12. This case is before the Court for a reason: the executive branch is asking the judicial branch to prevent Smith from running for office. Contrary to appellants’ assertion, once the prosecutor brings the plea agreement to the court for enforcement, the actions compelled by the Court are no longer “voluntary.”

The appellants also argue that the prosecutor was not “exercising” the Legislative power. Even if this were true, the Constitution denies the Governor the ability to remove a legislative official from office. *See* 1963 Const. art. 5, § 10. Nowhere does appellants’ brief explain why a member of the executive branch may exercise a power denied to the head of that branch.

Moreover, however noble the motive, good intentions do not trump the Constitution’s separation of powers, which exists to preserve our system of checks and balances. Even if Smith’s resignation were considered “voluntary,” the Michigan Constitution does not maintain the separation of powers for the good of Virgil Smith; it maintains the separation for the good of

the citizenry. Smith's legislative seat is not property that he can use as a bargaining chip in a judicially enforceable agreement. Winning an election provides a public official with many privileges, but trading that public office for personal gain is not among them.

B. Only the Legislature can determine a citizen's eligibility for elections.

The prosecutor not only attempted to force Virgil Smith out of his then-existing term, but also attempted to preclude him from holding future office during probation. Yet again, the plea condition violated Michigan's Constitution. The Michigan Constitution declares explicitly the types of crimes that disqualify a citizen from holding office. Const. 1963, art. 11, § 8 (declaring a person ineligible who has been convicted of a felony—related to the person's official capacity while holding office—"involving dishonesty, deceit, fraud, or a breach of public trust"). This provision does not disqualify a person who has pled guilty to malicious destruction of personal property. *See Id.*

In addition, the Michigan Constitution vests sole authority to enact election laws in the Legislature. Const. 1963, art. 2, § 4; *Socialist Workers Party v Secretary of State*, 412 Mich 571, 595; 317 NW2d 1 (1982). This authority includes the power to enact laws that "preserve the purity of elections." Const. 1963, art. 2, § 4. The Constitution also grants to the Legislature the authority to exclude mentally incompetent or jailed citizens from voting. Const. 1963, art. 2, § 2. And the Legislature did just that in 1975 when it passed MCL 158.758b to prohibit people from voting while confined to jail or prison.

There is a common theme throughout Michigan's constitutional and statutory election law: the Legislature decides. The Legislature chooses the manner of elections; the Legislature enacts laws that preserve the purity of elections; and the Legislature declares who is ineligible to

vote or run for office. In Michigan’s election law, the executive branch was nowhere to be found—until this case. The prosecutor’s attempt to extract a promise from Virgil Smith that he will not hold office during probation veers directly into the Legislature’s lane of election purity. And that power lies only with the Legislature. No other branch can exercise it.

Appellants cite no case supporting the proposition that the executive branch may determine who is eligible to run for office. But this determination is precisely what the prosecution seeks to do:

“In a statement to The Detroit News, [an assistant Wayne County prosecutor] wrote that in the event Smith advances in the primary election on Aug. 8, the office ‘would move the court for immediate consideration and try to expedite review of the application and ask for a decision prior to the date the ballots (for the November election) are printed.’”⁵

Our Constitution does not authorize county prosecutors to make these decisions. Instead, the Constitution spells out a clear process for expelling a sitting legislator. Furthermore, the Constitution entrusts to the Legislature the determination of electoral eligibility for Michigan’s citizens. For both voided plea conditions, the prosecutor attempted to exercise authority that is expressly granted to another branch. This Court should affirm the lower-court decision.

⁵ Stephanie Steinberg, The Detroit News, *Worthy Files Appeal to Void Virgil Smith’s Plea Deal* < <http://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/local/detroit-city/2017/07/28/worthy-files-appeal-void-virgi-smith-plea-deal/104083690/>> (accessed August 20, 2017).

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE PROSECUTION'S MOTION TO VACATE THE PLEA BECAUSE THE PROSECUTION SHOULD NOT BENEFIT FROM ENTERING INTO AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL AGREEMENT.

Standard of Review

The Court reviews a decision on a motion to withdraw a plea for an abuse of discretion. *People v Cole*, 491 Mich 325, 329; 817 NW2d 497 (2012). “An abuse of discretion will be found when the decision is so palpably and grossly violative of fact and logic that it evidences . . . not the exercise of judgment but defiance thereof, not the exercise of reason but rather of passion or bias.” *Dacon v Transue*, 441 Mich 315, 329; 490 NW2d 369 (1992) (citation omitted). The Court reviews a constitutional question de novo. *Bonner v City of Brighton*, 495 Mich 209, 221; 848 NW2d 380 (2014).

Argument

A court uses contract principles to interpret a plea agreement, so long as the result serves the interests of justice. *People v Martinez*, 307 Mich App 641, 651; 861 NW2d 905 (2014). The maxim *in pari delicto potior est condition defendantis* (in cases of equal fault, the position of the defendant is stronger) is a contract principle founded on justice. *Pantely v Garris, Garris & Garris, P.C.*, 180 Mich App 768, 774; 447 NW 2d 864 (1989). “As between parties in pari delicto, that is equally in the wrong, the law will not lend itself to afford relief to one as against the other, but will leave them as it finds them.” *Orzel by Orzel v Scott Drug Co*, 449 Mich 550, 558; 537 NW2d 208 (1995) (citation omitted). Michigan courts have consistently applied this rule. *Id.* at 558–59 (citing twelve cases that date back to 1916). “Suit is barred not because the defendant is right, but rather because the plaintiff, being equally wrong, has forfeited any claim

to the aid of the court.” *Pantely*, 180 Mich at 774.

It is the fault of both parties that they entered into an unconstitutional agreement. As this Court said in *Orzel by Orzel*, the Court should leave the parties where it finds them rather than redistribute the losses resulting from the voided illegal conditions. This is not because Smith deserves it; it is because the prosecution does not deserve the windfall of returning to the plea-bargaining table after Smith has already pled guilty, publicly resigned his office, completed his jail sentence, and complied with every single legal condition of his plea agreement. If the Court vacates the plea, it will place the prosecution in a stronger bargaining position than it was in initially; the prosecution will profit from entering into an unconstitutional agreement. No principle—whether of contract or justice—supports this result.

Appellants assert that “the court does not have discretion to select among the provisions in the sentencing agreement, retaining some while discarding others.” Appellant’s Application, at 21. But case law holds the opposite. See *People v Miller*, 182 Mich App 711; 452 NW2d 890 (1990). In *Miller*, the court rewrote a provision from a guilty plea because the provision was illegal. *Id.* at 714 (“We amend this condition on the order of probation to read, ‘you shall not associate with [the father of the defendant’s child] until further order of the court.’”).

Because vacating the plea would violate both contract principles and the principles of justice, the Court should affirm the trial court’s denial of the prosecution’s motion to vacate the plea.

CONCLUSION AND RELIEF REQUESTED

The Constitution denies a county prosecutor—a member of the executive branch—the authority to expel a sitting Legislator and to determine a citizen’s eligibility to hold office. The Court should deny leave to the prosecution thereby 1) upholding the Michigan Constitution’s separation of powers and 2) upholding the trial court’s reasoned denial of the prosecution’s motion to vacate the plea because, under contract principles and principles of justice, the prosecution should not receive a bargaining windfall for entering into an unconstitutional agreement.